

Bylaws of the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America

These Bylaws are for the use of all persons or entities registering and transferring purebred Belgians. By observing them, anyone doing business with the corporation will avoid difficulties and help to make certain the accuracy of the certificates of registry and transfer issued by the Corporation. Failure to observe them may lead to loss of the privileges of the Corporation and possible legal entanglements.

Article I

Title, Location, Object and Corporate Seal

Section 1. Title

The name of the Corporation is Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America.

Section 2. Location

The location of the principal office shall be in the City of Wabash, State of Indiana.

Section 3. Object

The object of the Corporation is to keep and maintain a registry of purebred Belgian Draft and for the advancement of the interests of the Belgian Draft Horses in America and to do any and all things that may be necessary to properly conduct the business of the Corporation.

Section 4. Corporate Seal



The Corporation shall have a corporate seal which shall consist of a circular die upon which is engraved, “Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America” and at the bottom the word “Seal” and in the center a horse’s head. The impression is as follows:

Article II

Membership and Fees

Section 1. Members

Upon application, qualification, determination that the applicant is actively engaged in Belgian activity; is a United States citizens or recognized entity incorporated or organized under United States Law or any of its states; and, payment of the requisite fee, the recipient, during the designated period of eligibility, shall be entitled to the indicated membership privileges and, if an individual 18 years or older, shall be entitled to the indicated member privileges (provided that if

an individual, he or she is 18 years or older) one vote on membership matters subject to these Bylaws. Any person, who is not a United States citizen or entity outside of the United States that was a valid member at the passage of the bylaw amendments on May, 4 2018 will be grandfathered in as a member. Membership privileges are not in effect until the membership has been processed. Membership privileges apply only to the entity in which the membership is written and cannot be combined with any other person to create membership privileges. Additionally, persons cannot be deleted to maintain a membership entity. Animals not recorded in a membership entity are subject to non-member fees. The following types of membership shall be recognized:

- a. Individual. Restricted to one person, carried in that person's legal name only.
- b. Joint. A combination to a maximum of two persons, such as husband and wife, but not limited to husband and wife, and includes such designation as John and Jane Doe; John or Jane Doe; and, John and/or Jane Doe. A designation such as John and Jane Doe shall be recognized as what is commonly known as tenants in common, with each having an undivided one-half interest. A designation such as John or Jane Doe; and, John and/or Jane Doe, shall be recognized as each having a half interest subject to rights of survivorship upon the death of one. If individuals have a joint account with the connective word "and" and would like to convert the membership to "and/or" or "or", then both individuals must submit a letter requesting the same to the Corporation to do so.
- c. Corporate. Corporations in good standing in the state of their incorporation.
- d. Partnership. Partnerships, general or limited, in good standing in the state of their organization.
- e. Limited Liability Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships. Limited liability companies and limited liability partnerships in good standing in the state of their organization.
- f. Educational Institutions. Any properly licensed Educational Institution.
- g. *Trust (with name (s) of trustee (s) given)*

For all of the above memberships, other than individual, the Corporation shall provide a form wherein, if a joint membership, all members; if a corporation, all officers and shareholders; if a partnership, all partners; if a limited liability company, all members; or a limited liability partnership, all members or partners; or, if a trust, all trustees; can sign and designate one person to conduct all business with said Corporation on behalf of said entity.

Otherwise, if said form is not executed, then signatures of all joint owners, officers, shareholders, members, partners &/or trustees shall be required to conduct business with the Corporation.

For a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, educational institution, or trust, a certified copy of the legal document proving that entities' existence shall be filed with the Corporation before the membership will be approved.

Section 2. Youth Membership

A special youth membership, without voting privileges will be offered to individuals who are under the age of 18 years of age. The youth membership fees as set by the Board of Directors shall accompany the membership application. By December 31 of the year the individual reaches the

age of 18, such individual may submit the balance of an individual membership fee. The current annual dues will apply from that point forward, otherwise the membership expires. Youth members shall be entitled to all regular member privileges, excluding voting privileges and director eligibility, provided proper fees are paid according to the fee schedule(s) set by the Board.

Section 3. Non-Resident Membership

Individuals residing outside of the United States can only apply for a non-resident membership. A non-resident membership shall be limited to an individual or joint membership and shall be subject to all other requirements of these Bylaws. Non-resident members shall be entitled to all regular member privileges excluding voting privileges and director eligibility, provided proper fees are paid according to the fee schedule(s) set by the Board.

Section 4. Membership Fees

Membership fees shall be set by the Board of Directors. Said fee schedule shall be provided to the members and prospective members when so requested. Each applicant for membership shall pay the current membership fee, which amount shall accompany the application for membership. This amount shall be returned to said applicant in the event that the application is not accepted. For annual memberships, an annual fee will apply. Failure to remit the annual fee will cancel the membership.

Lifetime members who have not voted or done business with the Corporation in three years prior will be considered inactive and will not receive correspondence or ballots. Inactive members may request to be moved to active by contacting the secretary in writing or e-mail. That notice will be effective for three years unless the member has voted or done business with the Corporation during that three year period.

Section 5. Termination of Membership

Membership in this Corporation shall automatically terminate with the death, resignation, corporate dissolution, partnership dissolution, limited liability company dissolution or limited liability partnership dissolution, termination of the trust, or expulsion of said member.

Provided that upon the death of an individual member or one of the two members, where the membership is designated with “and”, said deceased member’s executor, administrator or legal representative shall have one year after the date of death of said person to register or transfer upon the books of this Corporation each animal or the unregistered progeny thereof, upon payment to the corporation of the fees of registration and transfer as required of members under these Bylaws. In this instance, letters of appointment or similar order from the appropriate Probate Court will be provided to the corporation.

Provided further, that in the event of the death of one person of a joint membership where the words “or”, “and/or” are indicated, then the surviving owner shall have one year after the date of death of said member to register or transfer upon the books this Corporation each animal or the unregistered progeny thereof, upon payment to the Corporation of the fees of registration and transfer as required of members under these Bylaws upon presentment of a certified death certificate. Certified death certificate for the deceased member will be provided to the corporation.

Provided further in the event of the death of a shareholder of a corporation; a dissolution of a corporation; the death of a partner of a partnership; the dissolution of a partnership; the death of a member of a limited liability company, a dissolution of a limited liability company; the death of a partner of a limited liability partnership; and, a dissolution of a limited liability partnership, &/or termination of the trust; that entity shall have one year after the date of death of said member/partner or dissolution or termination to register or transfer upon the books this Corporation each animal or the unregistered progeny thereof, upon payment to the Corporation of the fees of registration and transfer as required of members under these Bylaws.

Provided further, that the mere change of name of a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership or educational institution shall not be construed as a change of ownership of animals owned by said corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership or educational institution, but shall be necessary for said corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership or educational institution, so changing its corporate name to immediately surrender the current membership card and obtain a new membership card and to pay therefore the current membership card.

However, in the event of a death of a lifetime member that has a joint membership with a spouse or family member, whether “and”, “or”, “and/or”, the remaining living individual will be granted a new lifetime membership, free of cost, unless the living individual already has a membership on his or her own. The surviving member of the original lifetime membership has one year from the individuals’ date of death to notify the office and transfer the remaining name into a new lifetime membership. No new names may be added to the membership. Likewise, this rule shall apply to cost free transfer of registered horses, subject to the above limitations.

Article III

Meetings and Elections

Section 1. Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of members of this Corporation shall be held at such place and time as the Board of Directors may designate. At such annual meeting, the members shall elect three Directors, as provided in Section 7 of Article III of these Bylaws. Provided, should a Director die, resign, or be unable to serve out his/her term for any reason, then the current Board of Directors, by majority vote, shall select a member to serve in that Director’s place until the next annual election. At the next annual meeting after that Director’s death, resignation or inability to serve, the members shall also elect a new Director to fill that vacancy for the balance of that Director’s term. The members shall also transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting pursuant to the other terms of these Bylaws.

Section 2. Order of Business for the Annual Meeting

1. Meeting called to order
2. President’s address
3. Reading and approval of minutes of preceding meeting
4. Report of Secretary
5. Report of Treasurer
6. Report of Standing Committees

7. Unfinished old business
8. New business
9. Election of Directors
10. Adjournment

Section 3. Special Meetings

A special meeting of the members may be called at any time for any purpose by the President or a majority of the Board of Directors or by a majority of the active membership. In order for a special meeting to be called by the active membership, a petition signed by the majority of the active members must be received by the Secretary of the Belgian Corporation of America via United States mail.

Section 4. Procedure

Robert's Rules of Order shall govern the annual meeting, special meetings and meetings of the Board of Directors when not inconsistent with these Bylaws, but special rules of order for the government of meetings of members or the Board of Directors may be made at any time by the Board of Directors.

Section 5. Notice of Meeting

Notice of the annual meeting of the members and of any special or other meeting of the members shall be given by the Secretary, in writing, to each member entitled to receive the same by delivering personally or depositing such a notice in the United States mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to such respective member at the address of such member as shown by the books of the Corporation at least 30 days prior to said meeting. This process will be followed unless the member specifies to the Corporation, in writing, that they would like to receive this notice via electronic mail. Said notice shall briefly state the place, day, hour and purpose of said meeting.

Section 6. Quorum

Not less than ten members shall be necessary to constitute a quorum, for the transaction of business at any annual or special meeting of the members.

Section 7. Method of Electing Directors

- a. The six Directors, not up for election, by majority vote, will pick the Chairperson and members for the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall consist of three active members of the Corporation, one of whom shall be the Chairperson. Said Committee to be composed of one Director not then up for election, and two other active members who hold no office. In the event that there is a tie in the vote of the Directors for the choice of the Chairperson and/or Nominating Committee, the President will be responsible for breaking the tie.
- b. The members of this Committee shall be notified of their appointment by the Nominating Committee Chairperson and shall be informed with regard to their duties of proposing the names of duly qualified persons to be placed on the ballot for the next coming election. Said names will remain confidential until notification has been made to the Board of Directors.
- c. This Committee shall be called together by the Nominating Committee Chairperson on or before March 1 next following, by which time they will have had an opportunity

to consider names for nomination to the office of Director. The Board of Directors' nominees will be finalized at the spring Board of Directors' meeting. Notification to nominees will be handled by the Nominating Committee Chairperson. At the time of notification, the nominee will be informed of the role of a Board of Director and its expectations and will be asked for their decision as far as acceptance. All Board of Director nominees must be active members of the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America.

d. There shall be two candidates named for the office of each Director whose term is expiring and two candidates named to fill any vacancy for the unexpired term of any Director which has occurred for any reason or cause during the current year. In that instance where more than three Directors are being elected because one or more Directors are unable to complete their term, for any reason, then all persons nominated for the seats for all Directors shall be listed on one ballot and the number of nominees that coincide with the number of Directors' positions being filled who receive the most votes shall be elected as Directors. There shall not be a separate ballot or a separate portion of the ballot for those Directors being elected to serve out the term of a Director or Directors who have failed to serve his/her unexpired term. The three nominees who receive the highest number of votes will fill the term of the three directors whose three-year term is normally expiring. In the instance that a director's term has terminated prior to the normal three-year term then the nominee(s) that have the next highest votes will fill the open term(s).

e. After the selection of candidates has been agreed upon by the Nominating Committee, the nominees should remain confidential until the Nominating Committee Chairperson has informed all Board of Directors. The Secretary shall prepare a printed ballot, and mail the same to all active members at least 30 days prior to the annual meeting, on which the names appear as chosen by the Nominating Committee. Three blank lines shall be provided on the ballot beneath the names of the candidates, to permit any active member to write in the name of a candidate of their own selection.

f. As quickly as the ballots have been printed and in conformity with the provisions of Section 7, Article III of these Bylaws, but 30 days prior to the annual meeting, the Secretary shall mail to each active member of this Corporation, a ballot and a business reply envelope. The member, upon receipt of the ballot, shall record their vote by making the usual "X" next to the names of the candidates of their choice. They shall then place their ballot in the business reply envelope and seal the same. They shall then sign their name over the word "Signature", which appears on the back of the outside envelope addressed to said firm responsible for counting said ballots so that their signature shall partially appear on the flap and partially on the back of said envelope.

g. All ballots must be received by said firm at least seven business days prior to the date of the annual meeting.

h. Said accounting firm shall open ballots and tabulate, certifying results and placing its tabulation in a sealed envelope for delivery to the Secretary of the Corporation. Said envelope will be opened during the annual meeting, but not before, and the results disclosed.

i. Should a tie result between two candidates for the final position in an election, a winner will be declared by a majority vote of the active members present at the annual meeting.

- j. Any active member or board of director(s) may request a recount within two business days following the annual meeting provided:
 - i. Fewer than five votes separate the two candidates in question; and,
 - ii. The active member or board of director(s) requesting the recount pre-pays current recount fee charged by the Corporation's accounting firm.

Article IV

Board of Directors

Section 1. Number of Directors

The property, funds and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed and controlled by a Board of Directors consisting of nine members. Each of the said Directors shall hold office until their successor is duly elected and qualified.

Section 2. Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held in conjunction with the annual meeting of the members and a separate spring meeting.

Section 3. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President or by a two-thirds vote of the Board.

Section 4. Place of Meeting

The Board of Directors as they may from time to time by motion determine, hold its meetings, regular or special, at any place other than the office of the Corporation and may at any such meeting transact all business the same as if called at the regular place of business. Otherwise, all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at the office of the Corporation in the City of Wabash, in the State of Indiana. Special meetings may be held remotely, via electronic methods, based on a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors.

Section 5. Notice of Meetings

Notice of regular and special meetings shall be sent to each Director by the Secretary at least ten days prior to the date of such meeting unless a unanimous vote of the directors waive the notice requirement.

Section 6. Vacancy

Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, caused by death, resignation, or otherwise shall be filled by a majority vote of the remaining members of the Board until the next annual meeting of members. In the event of a tie, the President will act as tie breaker.

Section 7. Quorum

Two-thirds of the whole Board of Directors shall be necessary to constitute a quorum thereof, except for the filling of vacancies which is referenced in Section 6 above.

Section 8. Expectations of Board Member/Qualifications

To be considered as a director nominee and/or serving director, that person must comply with the following:

- a. Be an active member in good standing of this Corporation.
- b. Not have an adult felony criminal conviction.
- c. Not communicate discussions, communications, opinions or information derived from executive sessions of the Board of Directors.
- d. Have no unexcused absences from scheduled or special board meetings.
- e. Violation or breach of one or more requirements of Board Members as outlined in the document “Requirements of a Director of the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America”.

Any violation, deviation and/or breach of the above expectations will facilitate board review and could lead to disciplinary action up to and including removal as a Director of the Corporation, however, requiring a two-thirds vote of the Directors subject to requirements of Section 5 and 7 of this article and Article X.

Article V Officers and Duties

Section 1. Officers

The Officers of the Corporation shall consist of a President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer who shall be chosen by the Board of Directors and such Officers shall hold office for the period of one year, except for the secretary/treasurer role who is an employee at will, and/or until their successors are duly elected. Such Officers shall be elected from the members of the Board of Directors, except the Secretary and Treasurer, who need not be members of the Board. The offices of the Secretary and Treasurer may be held by the same person.

Section 2. President

The President shall preside at all meetings of the members of the Corporation and of the Board of Directors. The President shall see that the Bylaws, rules and regulations of the Corporation are enforced and shall perform all other duties that may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors. The President shall be ex-officio member of all committees. The President shall appoint board members to the appropriate Corporation committees as well as appoint the chairperson for each of the committees. The committee chairperson in conjunction with the other board members on the committee will determine if at large members are needed for the committee and if so, who that member(s) might be. The chairperson of the committee(s) will then take the recommendation for their committee back to the Belgian Corporation of America Board of Directors for their approval. Approval will require a majority vote. This will be a yearly review and appointment process. In case of death, failure, refusal or inability of a member of any committee to act, such vacancy shall be filled by appointment by the President for the unexpired term.

Section 3. Vice-President

In the absence of the President, the Vice-President shall have the powers and shall perform the duties of the President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Secretary

The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all members' and Directors' meetings. The Secretary shall be the custodian for the safekeeping of all documents and records of the Corporation and shall have authority to issue certificates of registry and transfer. The Secretary shall execute the certificates of registry and transfer demanded and proper to be issued by this Corporation and shall keep a record of the same. The Secretary shall collect all monies due the Corporation for registration and transfer or from any other source, and shall pay all such monies to the Treasurer. The Secretary shall be an ex-officio member of all committees appointed by the President or the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall make a report to the Board of Directors when requested and an annual report to the members at their annual meetings.

Section 5. Treasurer

The Treasurer shall receive all monies from the Secretary. The Treasurer shall disburse the same only upon itemized demands and upon the order of the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall make a quarterly report to the Board of Directors in detail, and an annual report to the members at their annual meetings.

Section 6. Auditing of Accounts

The Board may request a commercial audit of accounts of the Secretary and Treasurer (or Secretary-Treasurer as the case may be). Audit shall be made by a Certified Public Accountant, selected by the Board of Directors, and shall be reported to the annual meeting of members next held. Such Accountant shall be a disinterested person and not a member of this Corporation.

Section 7. Surety Bonds.

The President and Treasurer shall each be given a surety bond to be furnished at the expense of the Corporation for the faithful discharge of their duties. It will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors to determine if other personnel, members or Directors will be furnished with the same.

Section 8. Vacancies

All vacancies in the Officers of the Corporation caused by death or otherwise shall be filled by majority vote of the Board of Directors, unless there is a tie in which the President will act as tie breaker. No vacancy shall be filled to a time extending beyond the next succeeding annual meeting.

Article VI Rules of Registration

Section 1. General Requirements

Any person, persons or legal entity recognized by the Corporation, requesting registration of a Belgian horse must conform to all the requirements, rules and regulations of the Corporation pertaining thereto. To register a horse with the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America, the horse must be registered by and in the name of the owner of the dam at the time of foaling; provided further, that in order to register the horse, the dam and sire of said horse must be properly registered and transferred on the records of the Corporation. No animal can be registered into a farm name which is not a legal entity recognized by the Corporation referenced in Article II, Section 1 of the Bylaws.

Section 2. Application for Registration

a. Before any horse shall be registered with the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America, an application for registry shall be made on forms furnished by the Corporation. Such application must be signed by the recorded owner of the sire at the time of service, and by the recorded owner of the dam at the time of service and the recorded owner of the dam at the time of foaling, unless a separate stallion service certificate is completed and submitted. If a transfer application was completed by the owner of the dam and the owner of the stallion at time of breeding, the breeder's certificate and service certificate sections of the foal registration application may be skipped.

b. Such application must contain the sex, name, color and description of other identifying marks, diagram showing white markings and other identifying marks, date of foaling, the name and address of the owner of the dam at time of foaling, the names and addresses of owners of the sire and dam at time of service, the names and registry numbers of the sire and dam, photographs, if requested, and such other information as the Board of Directors, or Secretary, may from time to time require.

c. When the proper showing has been made as herein required and the proper fees paid, as set forth by the published fee schedule of the Corporation, then said animal shall be accepted for registration and the certificate of registry of the Corporation may be issued.

d. Each certificate of registry shall carry a reproduction of the diagram showing white markings and any other marks of identification as shown on the original application for registry. The Corporation and its Officers shall use diligence in securing true information in connection with the registration of any and all animals recorded by it. Neither the Corporation nor its Officers shall be answerable in damages for the issuance of any certificate of registry made, in conformance to information furnished by the applicant for entry. The fees for registering Belgian horses, providing duplicate registrations, corrected registrations, rush fees, name changes or any other fees be set and published by the Board from time to time and those fees are incorporated herein as if fully rewritten. The filing of an application for registry or any other documents accompanied by the proper fees, shall not constitute a liability on the part of the Corporation. The Corporation has the right to investigate the application and make a determination about its truthfulness and authenticity. The acceptance of the application and the receipt of the proper fees that later proves to be inaccurate or improper does not impose a legal liability or responsibility upon the Corporation. Likewise, the rejection of the application and the accompanying fee because the Corporation believed that the application was improper or inaccurate, but later proves to be accurate and proper does not impose a legal liability upon the Corporation.

e. Upon the death or taking out of service of any animal registered in this Corporation, the certificate of registry shall be surrendered by the owner to the Corporation for cancellation, after which it may be returned to the owner upon their request. Where a registered stallion has been castrated, and the owner desires that the horse be indicated as a registered gelding and the owner may request a corrected certificate pursuant to Section 8 below.

Section 3. JEB Testing & DNA Profile

- a. DNA requirements: All sires of foals must be DNA profiled. All mares foaled in 2015 and after must be DNA profiled at the time of registration. All horses (mares, stallions and geldings) born January 1, 2026 and after must be DNA profiled at the time of registration. These tests must be done through the Corporation, at the corporation approved laboratory, with all fees paid in advance. Horses to which a registration number is issued, at the discretion of the Corporation, will be subject to verification of parentage and DNA profiling. If the results of the parentage verification or DNA profiling indicate an error then the cost of testing will be paid for by the person or entity committing the error.
- b. JEB requirements: All sires entering into service after November 1, 2002 must be JEB tested and results printed on the certificate of registry or be “parentage verified JEB non-carrier”. “Parentage Verified JEB Non-Carrier” will be documented on the certificate of registration provided the foal is DNA tested and one of the following conditions is met:
 - i. Both parents are JEB tested Non-Carriers.
 - ii. One parent is a JEB tested Non-Carrier and one parent is a Parentage Verified JEB Non-Carrier.
 - iii. Both parents are Parentage Verified JEB Non-Carriers.
- c. The fees for DNA and JEB kits shall be determined by the Board of Directors and incorporated into the fee schedule that is periodically updated and provided to any member or non-member that so requests.
- d. XY Reversal or XO Mare: If, as a result of DNA testing/profiling, it is determined that a horse may have a “XY Chromosomal Reversal” abnormality or may have a “XO Chromosomal” abnormality, the Corporation shall so advise the owner of the horse and issue a registration certificate indicating the possible “XY Chromosomal Reversal” or the possible “XO” condition thereon. The owner of the horse will have the option of additional testing and veterinarian inspection to delete the language by filing a grievance with the Board of Directors pursuant to the Article X, Section 3.

Section 4. Requirements for Registry of Foals by Artificial Insemination

- a. When the certificate of registry is issued it will be identified as an AI conception. The Corporation may, where chilled semen is used, at any time and at the expense of the mare owner, require parentage verification of foal to be recorded. All other requirements as set by these Bylaws for the dam and sire shall apply to foals conceived by artificial insemination.
- b. Where frozen semen is used, the following rules apply:
 - i. All other requirements as set by these Bylaws for the dam and sire shall apply to foals conceived by frozen semen.
 - ii. All foals conceived by way of frozen semen shall be subject to all normal registration rules provided for in this Article.
 - iii. The Corporation may, where frozen semen is used, at any time and at the expense of the mare owner, require parentage verification of the foal to be recorded.
 - iv. For Semen Frozen prior to 1/1/18:
 - a. Where the stallion was sold after the semen was frozen, the pre-1/1/18 rules apply and the semen becomes the property of the new owner and the owner

- of the stallion at the time of breeding must sign the application for registry. In addition, the stallion, mare and foal must be DNA/JEB profiled.
- b. Where the stallion was not sold after the semen was frozen and the last owner of the stallion was the owner at the time of freezing, the stallion owner can elect to apply for and purchase Frozen Semen Certificates (presumably so semen can be used on outside mares or so that the certificates and semen can be transferred at the death of owner). Frozen Semen Certificates are not necessary for in-herd use (see definition – paragraph v. b. below) while owner is living. However, in the instance that owner dies after the Stallion’s death, his or her estate will have one (1) year to complete the Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s) and purchase the Frozen Semen Certificate(s), unless the semen is sold or transferred prior to one year, then certificates must be purchased prior to transfer of the semen. However, in the event of a death of a lifetime member that has a joint membership with a spouse or family member and the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) are registered in the same manner, the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) will transfer to the surviving member at no cost.
 - c. For semen frozen before 1/1/18, Frozen Semen Reports are no longer required.
- v. For Semen Frozen 1/1/18 and after:
- a. Frozen Semen Reports are no longer required.
 - b. The Corporation, upon the stallion owner’s request, shall furnish an Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s). Upon proper completion and filing of the Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s) with payment per the fee schedule, the Corporation shall issue Frozen Semen Certificate(s) to the owner. Frozen Semen Certificate(s) will be utilized per foal and not per straw and will be required for registering a foal of an out of herd horse. These certificates will be purchased by the stallion owner. The utilization of a Frozen Semen Certificate shall not be required by the stallion owner(s), if the frozen semen is utilized within stallion owner's own herd (meaning mares are registered to the stallion owner's name or, if more than one stallion owner, the mares are registered in at least one of the stallion owner's name, but not an additional person, unless the additional person is the stallion owner's spouse or the other owner(s) of the stallion) unless the stallion is sold, or semen is sold or transferred, in which case Frozen Semen Certificates must be applied for.
 - c. Frozen Semen Certificate(s) can be transferred by properly completing the Frozen Semen Certificate Transfer and paying the transfer fee as set by the Corporation fee schedule.
 - d. If a stallion is sold and semen is retained by the prior owner, then the Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s) must be completed and the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) purchased previous to the date of the sale of the stallion.

- e. If a stallion dies, the stallion owner at the time of death, can complete the Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s) and purchase Frozen Semen Certificate(s) at any time after the Stallion's death. However, in the instance that owner dies after the Stallion's death, his or her estate will have one (1) year to complete the Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s) and purchase the Frozen Semen Certificate(s), unless the Semen is sold or transferred prior to one year, then certificates must be purchased prior to transfer of the semen. (See paragraph d. above).
- f. If the owner of the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) dies, his or her estate will have up to one year to make a transfer of the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) to the new owner by properly filing that transfer with the Corporation per the identified Corporation fee schedule. However, in the event of a death of a lifetime member that has a joint membership with a spouse or family member and the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) is registered in the same manner, the Frozen Semen Certificate(s) will transfer to the surviving member at no cost.
- g. Fees for Application for Frozen Semen Certificate(s); and Frozen Semen Certificate(s) Transfer will be subject to the fee schedule determined by the Board of Directors and incorporated into the fee schedule which is periodically amended and provided to members and non-members at their request.

Section 5. Requirements for Registry of Foals by Embryo Transfer (Prior to January 1, 2027)

The normal rules of registration as provided by this article, shall apply to foals born by embryo transfer as well as to the sire and the donor dam.

- a. Both the sire and the donor mare must be DNA profiled and JEB status known and recorded with the Corporation, prior to registry of any embryo.
- b. Each individual embryo must be registered with the Corporation on forms provided and fees as determined by the Board of Directors.
- c. The embryo transfer foal shall be subject to all normal registration rules provided for in this Article. The embryo registration certificate is made part of the registration certificate prior to registration. All registration requirements will be conducted at the owner's expense following the fee schedule set forth by the board, and by surrendering the embryo registration certificate.
- d. The transfer of an embryo abides by the same rules and regulations as written in Article VII and using the application for transfer forms provided by the Corporation.

Section 5. Requirements for Registry of Foals by Embryo Transfer (Beginning January 1, 2027)

For purposes of these by-laws embryo transfers, embryo transplants, in-vitro fertilization (IVF), intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) or any other process where an oocyte, egg, fresh embryo or frozen embryo is transferred from the donor dam to a recipient mare, shall be generally referred to as embryo transfer. To register a foal by any of the above processes the following requirements shall be met:

- a. The rules of registration as provided by this article shall apply to foals born by embryo transfer.
- b. Both the sire and donor dam must be DNA profiled and JEB status known with the Corporation.

- c. Each oocyte, egg, fresh embryo, frozen embryo or resulted fetus whether frozen or transplanted into the recipient mare must be registered with the Corporation on forms provided and where applicable, embryo transfer form, and fees paid (as published in the fee schedule):
- a. Prior to ownership transfer of the donor dam
 - b. Prior to ownership transfer of the recipient mare
 - c. Prior to ownership transfer of the oocyte, egg, fresh embryo, frozen embryo or resulted fetus
- d. The embryo registration and where applicable, the embryo transfer will be made part of the foal registration certificate and shall be surrendered at that time.
- e. Embryo Certificates are not necessary for in-herd-use (see definition in Section 4 paragraph a. v. b. above). However, in the instance that owner dies after the donor dam's death, his or her estate will have one (1) year to complete the application for Embryo Certificates and purchase the Embryo Certificate, unless the oocyte, egg, fresh embryo, frozen embryo, resulted fetus and/or recipient mare is sold or transferred prior to one year. then certificates must be purchased prior to transfer.
- f. However, in the event of a death of a life time member that has a joint membership with a spouse or family member and the Embryo Certificate(s) are register in the same manner, the Embryo Certificate(s) will transfer to the surviving member at no cost.

Section 6. Change of Name

The name of a registered animal can be changed provided that the fee has been paid, the Name Change of Registered Animal form has been filled out, and current registration certificate is submitted to the Secretary of the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America. A name can be changed if the following criteria has been met:

- a. Animal has not reached thirty-six months of age;
- b. Animal has not reproduced or sired;

Written consent of original applicant for registration has to be submitted to the Secretary of the Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America.

Section 7. Duplicate Certificates

A duplicate may be procured by the applicant making an application that they are the owner and in possession of the animal, frozen semen, and/or embryo and that they had possession of said original certificate but that the same has been lost or destroyed and by stating in the application the circumstances under which said certificate was lost or destroyed. A fee for duplicate certificate of registration, Frozen Semen Certificate and Embryo Registration Certificate shall be included in the fee schedule provided by the Corporation.

Section 8. Rewritten or Corrected Certificates of Registry

- a. The applicant may be required to complete a corrected application or provide photos as necessary at the discretion of the Corporation.
- b. Where a registered stallion has been castrated and the owner of that gelding desires the gelding to be indicated as registered, then the owner of that gelding may apply with the corporation by filling out the required forms and submitting the appropriate fees as determined by the published fee schedule.

Section 9. Non-member Registrations

Registrations of horses by non-members are permitted provided the registration meets all requirements of these Bylaws. In particular, any person(s) or legal entity seeking to register a horse must be one that is recognized pursuant to Article II, Section 1, of these Bylaws.

Section 10. Cloning

Registration of horses produced by cloning will not be permitted at this time.

Article VII **Rules for Transfer**

Section 1. Application for Transfer

A record of all changes in ownership must be made on the records of the Corporation. A signed application for transfer, shall be forwarded promptly to the Secretary of the Corporation. Such application for transfer shall be signed in ink on the form furnished by the Corporation, which, when returned to the Secretary, shall be entered upon the records if found to be regular. Every space on the transfer form must be filled out in full, where necessary, in order to make the transfer acceptable. All animals must be transferred into a proper name or names or legal entity recognized by the Corporation. No animal can be transferred into a farm name which is not a legal entity recognized by the Corporation referenced in Article II, Section 1 of these Bylaws. This restriction includes farm names or businesses which are state registered, unless that entity is properly filed and registered as a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership or educational institution. In the case of bred mares, the application for transfer shall also carry the date of service, the name and registry number of the stallion, and the owner of the stallion's signature at the time of service when the mare was bred. If this section is not filled out, the registration application for the offspring will need to be filled out entirely. If a transfer or transfers have been skipped or neglected, the transfer applicant must

procure the signature of the last recorded owner(s) and the horse in question must be DNA tested and parentage verified at the applicant's cost.

Section 2. Date of Sale

Date of sale given on a transfer shall be the date the buyer completed the contracted agreement with the seller. Anyone wanting to change or amend information on a transfer must contact the Corporation with approval from the buyer and the seller.

Section 3. Transfers Signed in Blank

A transfer signed in blank and submitted to the Corporation in that form, is not deemed a good transfer unless the animal was consigned to an auction. In case of an auction, a blank transfer will be furnished to the auction and the auction shall be responsible for completing the name and address of the buyer along with the date and any other information to complete the transfer.

Section 4. Neglect or Refusal to Transfer

In case of full neglect or refusal of a seller to give a transfer without reasons satisfactory to the Board of Directors, the record of change of ownership may be made by the Secretary upon written approval of a majority of the Board of Directors on satisfactory evidence of sale and delivery.

Section 5. Fees for Transfer

At the time of filing a transfer, the fees and penalties for transferring are based on the membership or non-membership status of the seller and on the current fee schedule determined by the Board of Directors. All fees for transfer, penalty fees, rushed transfers and fees for correction of transfer shall be established by the Board as set by the fee schedule circulated periodically to members and non-members.

Section 6. Liability of Corporation

The filing of an application for transfer of ownership accompanied by the proper fees does not create a legal responsibility or liability on the part of the Corporation. The Corporation has the right to investigate the transfer and make a determination about its truthfulness and authenticity. The acceptance of an application and receipt of the proper fees that later proves to be inaccurate or improper does not impose a legal liability or responsibility upon the Corporation. Likewise, the rejection of an application for transfer and the accompanying fee because the Corporation believed that the application was improper or inaccurate, but later proves to be accurate and proper does not impose a legal liability upon the Corporation.

Section 7. Non-member Transfers

Transfer of horses to or from non-members are permitted provided the transfer meets all requirements of these Bylaws. In particular, any person(s) or legal entity seeking to transfer a horse or to which a horse is being transferred, must be one that is recognized as referenced in Article II, Section 1, of these Bylaws.

Article VIII Recording Prefixes

Prefixes may be recorded at the Corporation for the current prefix fee determined by the Board of Directors. The first applicant to record a prefix has sole privilege of using the prefix thereafter and said prefix cannot be used by another person, group of persons or any legal entity recognized by the corporation, without the written consent of the original applicant/recorder. The prefix is only

protected when used as a whole and individual portions can be used by other persons or legal entities. The prefix can be transferred from a person/legal entity to another based on the current fee schedule set forth by the Board of Directors. When a prefix has not been used for a period of at least five years, and the corporation office is contacted by an active member who wants to use the prefix, the recorded owner of the prefix will be contacted by certified mail and informed of such. The recorded owner of the prefix will be required to complete the necessary form to retain ownership of the prefix and return it to the corporation office by the indicated deadline. Failure by the prefix owner to reply by the deadline, will result in the prefix becoming public domain for the use and/or reservation by another party. The prefix owner, may at his, hers or its discretion, petition the Board of Directors to retire the prefix. If a prefix is retired, the prefix owner or a family member may petition the Board of Directors to resurrect the prefix. The Board of Directors reserves the right to retire and/or resurrect a prefix.

Article IX Importations

Section 1. Limitations of Importation

- a. The Corporation will only accept for registry native purebred horses from Canada.
- b. The definition of a native purebred horse is one that is bred and owned in the United States or Canada and its origin can be traced back to the registered sire and dam in the Belgian Corporation of America registry or the Canadian Belgian registry. Regardless of the language contained above, the Corporation will not accept horses imported from Canada, if a dam or sire in the pedigree were imported into Canada from another country or territory other than the United States.
- c. The applicant must comply with all rules and guidelines for registry and transfer along with the fee schedule of this Corporation. The above language or requirements will take effect 1/1/2019 for applications of registry for imported horses.

Article X Violation of Rules or Bylaws; Impositions of Sanctions and Suspensions

Section 1. General

Being a member of and/or doing business with the Corporation is a privilege and not a right. All members and non-members doing business with the Corporation agree to be subject to these Bylaws and, in particular, this article.

However, the Corporation, its Officers, Directors and Employees shall not be liable in damages to anyone against whom a he pe has been filed, whether such person or entity was found innocent or guilty of the grievance.

Section 2. Expectations

- a. Dealing in Certificates of Registry for the purpose of defrauding or misleading is prohibited. Anyone who sells or offers for sale or exchange or gives away, any Belgian Certificate of Registry, or anyone who purchases or accepts or

uses such certificate of registry in violation of any of the provisions of these Bylaws, shall be subject to the terms of this article.

b. Anyone who willfully misrepresents the age of an animal, the color or description, the owner of the sire or of the dam or both, the owner of the animal at the time of registration or who makes any other misrepresentation not herein enumerated in connection with the registration or transfer of any animal shall be subject to the terms of this article.

c. Anyone doing business with the Corporation, in any form or manner, who knowingly makes a misrepresentation, shall be subject to the terms of this article.

Section 3. Filing of a Grievance

Whenever there is an issue, complaint or grievance (hereinafter, collectively referred to as a grievance) that a member of the Corporation or the Board of Directors believe justifies a hearing before the Board of Directors, then that member or the Board of Directors shall be required to complete the form entitled “Belgian Draft Horse Corporation of America Grievance Process”. Said form shall be provided by the Corporation at request. Said form shall be completed in its entirety by the person or entity submitting the grievance and presented to the Secretary. Non-members do not have the privilege of filing a grievance. However, a grievance can be filed against a non-member, a member, a corporation, director, officer or anyone doing business with the Corporation.

Section 4. Notice of Hearing/Date of Hearing

Upon the filing of the grievance, the Secretary, after conferring with the Board, shall send by certified mail a Notice of Hearing to be held before the Board of Directors. Said hearing shall be set for a date not more than 30 days after mailing the Notice of Hearing. At the sole discretion of the Board of Directors, said hearing can be continued to another date and time, upon which the Secretary shall notify all parties of the new date and time. Provided, however, said hearing shall not be extended beyond the next Annual or Spring meeting of the Board of Directors occurring after the initial 30-day hearing date.

Section 5. Place of Hearing/Attendance

The place of hearing shall be at the offices of the Corporation at Wabash, Indiana, or any other location as set by the Board of Directors. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, said hearing may be attended by electronic communication. Attendance of the person or entity filing the grievance at the hearing will be necessary. Attendance at the hearing by the person or entity who the grievance was filed against is optional. However, should the person or entity who the grievance has been filed against chooses not to attend the hearing, then that person consents to permitting the Board of Directors to make a decision or imposing suspensions or sanctions in their absence and said decision, sanction and/or suspension shall be final.

Section 6. Hearing

The member who filed the grievance, or the Board of Directors, if it filed the grievance, and the accused may present any report, evidence, witnesses, experts and may be represented by legal counsel at the hearing. The hearing shall be informal and the rules of evidence, both at common law or provided by Indiana rules of civil or criminal evidence, need not be strictly observed. The

standard by which admissibility is determined is whether the evidence is such that any ordinary prudent person is willing to rely upon.

The Board of Directors have the right to investigate the allegations contained in the grievance by speaking to and calling witnesses; requesting and inspection of documents; requesting the attendance of witnesses at such hearing; and, inspect and test the horse or horses involved. Such horse or horses may be inspected upon the premises of the owner or wherever such horse or horses may be, and it shall be the duty of such owner or owners to locate and present the horse or horses, which corresponds with the Certificate or Certificates of Registry, Transfer or Grievance in question. If the accused or person who has control of the horse or horses refuses to present the horse or horses or its requested paperwork or any questions regarding the horse or horses or cooperate with the investigation, then said refusal or lack of cooperation may be considered as evidence that a violation has occurred.

Section 7. Penalties, Sanctions, Suspensions and Fines

After the hearing and due consideration of all evidence presented, the Board of Directors shall, by at least a majority vote of the quorum present, (unless the grievance involves a Director or Directors' duty, then Article IV shall apply) decide whether the violation has occurred. If, in fact, a violation has occurred, then by at least a majority vote of the quorum of Directors present, the Board shall be able to impose any and/or all of the following:

- a. Permanently or conditionally strike or amend the certificate or transfer on the records of the Corporation;
- b. Permanently or conditionally strike or amend the registration of the descendants of the subject horse or horses;
- c. Refuse to allow the horse or horses involved to participate in any of the Corporations programs or activities;
- d. Fining anyone who participated in the violation;
- e. Refuse to receive any further paperwork (i.e. registration applications, transfers, membership applications, frozen semen filings, embryo filings, paperwork, etc.) or do any further business of any type with the violator;
- f. Suspend/cancel the membership of any violator;
- g. Publish the name of the violator by such means as the Board of Directors deem appropriate; and,
- h. Any person or entity found guilty of the grievance, wherein the Corporation has incurred any expense in investigating the matter involved, the Board may assess the expense and costs of such investigation upon the violator.

Section 8. Suspension from Other Breed Registry

The Board shall have the right of power to apply any of the penalties/sanctions described in Section 7 of this Article, if the Board of Directors after complying with all other Sections of this Article, including notice and conducting a hearing, that the person or entity has been suspended or expelled from not permitted to do business with any other Breed Registry.

Section 9. Restoration of the Right to do Business and Restoration of Membership

Notwithstanding anything contained in these Bylaws to the contrary, the Board of Directors, by two-thirds vote, may restore to good standing, including the right to do business and renew a

membership, to any person or entity who was previously denied those rights pursuant to this Article.

Section 10. Grievance Process

In the event of filing a grievance by anyone related to business dealings affecting the Belgian Corporation of America (ie registrations, transfers, membership and all general business), the Corporation reserves the right to suspend any business with that person or entity until all information is gathered and the grievance has been resolved.

Article XII

Legal

Section 1. Debt or Legal Obligation

No officer, director or member of the Corporation of shall contract any debt in the name of the corporation except upon written authorization from the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Corporation Records

The Corporation retains sole ownership of any all Corporation records including issued certificates of registry and intellectual property. Further, the recorded owner(s) on the certificate of registry is not a final adjudication or legal determination of ownership or legal title.

Section 3. Choice of Law/Venue/Jurisdiction

The laws of the State of Indiana shall govern the interpretation and validity of these Bylaws and also all complaints, actions, claims, and disputes involving this Corporation and its Directors, Members, Non-members, Complainants, Claimants and Creditors. The jurisdiction and the venue for all such complaints, actions, claims and disputes arising from the operations of the Corporation and its dealing and business with, and/or for Directors, Members, Non-Members, Complainants, Claimants and Creditors shall be in Wabash County, State of Indiana and the Directors, Members, Non-Members, Complainants, Claimants and Creditors waive their right to remove any such complaints, actions, claims and disputes to any other venue or jurisdiction, including Federal Court.

Section 4. Modifications

Based on an evolving business landscape, changes in technology, changes in learning, etc. the Board of Directors of the Belgian Corporation of America reserves the right to change these bylaws as needed to meet the needs of this changing landscape.

Section 5. Non-Member Death or Dissolution of Non-Member Entity

In case of death of a non-member; death of a shareholder of a non-member corporation; the dissolution of a non-member partnership; death of a member or a non-member limited liability company; dissolution of a non-member limited liability partnership; the non-member shall have one year after the date of death or dissolution to register or transfer upon the books of the Corporation, each animal or the unregistered progeny thereof, upon payment to the Corporation of the fees of registration a referenced under these Bylaws.

Article XIII

Amendments

Section 1. Changes to the Bylaws

Any Bylaw may be repealed, modified, altered or amended, or new Bylaws adopted at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors by a two-thirds vote of the board.

Section 2. Review of the Bylaws

The Bylaw Committee will complete a review of these entire bylaws every five years.